令和5年度 博士論文

Study on minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants

指導教員 山田 功

群馬大学大学院理工学府 理工学専攻 知能機械創生理工学領域

氏 名 張 達宇

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	3	
	1.1	A trend of a study for parameterization problem	3	
		1.1.1 YK parameterization	3	
		1.1.2 Strong stablization	4	
	1.2	A trend of a study for minimum-phase system	4	
		1.2.1 Simple parameterization of stabilizing controllers for linear minimum-phase plants	4	
		1.2.2 Parameterization of all proper internally stabilizing controllers for minimum-phase systems	5	
	1.3	The purpose and contents of this study	5	
2	The	e Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-phase Controllers for Minimum-phase		
	SIS	O Biproper Plants	7	
	2.1	Introduction	7	
	2.2	Problem Formulation	8	
	2.3	The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Biproper		
		Plants	8	
	2.4	Characteristics of the control system	9	
	2.5	Design method of minimum-phase stabilizing controllers	10	
	2.6	Numerical example	10	
	2.7	Conclusion	12	
3	$Th\epsilon$	The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase		
	SIS	O Strictly Proper Plants	15	
	3.1	Introduction.	15	
	3.2	Problem formulation	16	
	3.3	The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Strictly		
		Proper Plants	16	
	3.4	Characteristics of the control system	18	
	3.5	Design method of minimum-phase stabilizing controllers	19	
	3.6	Numerical example	20	
	3.7	Conclusions	21	
4	п		•	
4	Parameterization for All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase MIMO			
	1 1	Ins	4 0 95	
	4.1	Duchlam Formulation	20	
	4.2	The Dependent of All Stabilising Minimum Diago Controllors for Minimum Diago MIMO	20	
	4.0	Disproper Diente	20	
	4.4	Characteristics of closed loop system	20	
	4.4	Design method of minimum phase stabilizing controllers	21	
	4.0	Neuronical accounts	21	
	4.0	The Dependent of All Chalt Heim Minimum Direct Controlling for Minimum Direct Chaitele	20	
	4.1	The rarameterization of An Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Strictly	90	
	10	Conclusion	- 29 - 29	
	4.0	Conclusion	52	
5	Con	nclusion	33	

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 A trend of a study for parameterization problem

There exist a important control problem named the parameterization problem, which is to seek all stabilizing controllers for a plant [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10] and to obtain plants those can be stabilized [11, 12, 13, 14].

In the parameterization problem, the search for the controlled plants that can be stabilized is the first step to be considered. Usually we find a defined parameterization of the controlled plants based on the form of the system. Based on the parameterization of the plants that can be stabilized, we further determine the parameterization of the stabilizing controllers.

Using the parameterization, the stability of the control system is first ensured by selecting a controller from the parameterization. The parameterization can be freely chosen as a free parameter. We can meet specifications other than stability by using the flexibility of this free parameter. In other words, we can propose a controller design method based on the parameterization of the stabilizing controllers to satisfy stability and other specifications. Thus, we can easily design the desired stabilizing controller. Obtaining the parameterization is therefore an important control problem.

1.1.1 YK parameterization

Fig. I: Feedback control system

The parametrization problem have been tackled in many works using the Youla Kucera parametrization [1]. Youla proposed a parameterization that provides all linear stabilizing controllers for a given Linear Time-Invariant (LTI) plant in a feedback control loop in in Figure I. All stabilizing controllers are parametrized based on the transfer function called YK parameter Q, leading to a control form C(Q). The parameter Q(s) is the one guaranteeing the stability. Similarly, its dual theory (also known as the dual YK parameterization) provides all the linear plants stabilized by a given controller. The class of all the plant stabilized by a controller depends on the transfer function called dual YK parameter S, so G(S). This parameter could represent any plant variations. Hence, this useful way of parametrizing either plants, controllers or both is employed to solve many control issues. According to the control objectives, two main configurations can be targeted:

- Controller parametrization allows stable controller reconfiguration when some change occurs. It is also widely used in disturbance and noise rejection control. d(s)
- r(s) Plant parametrization is employeds to solve the problem of closed-loop its hifting the solve the problem of closed-loop its hifting the solve the problem of closed-loop its high the problem of closed-loop its high the solve the problem of closed-loop its high the solve the problem of closed-loop its high the problem of closed high

Consider a single-input sing (S) utput (SISO) stables lant G(s) connected to a given controller C(s) in a stable feedback keep depicted as in Figure I. Closed-loop transfer function T(s) from reference r(s) to output y(s) is in the following equation:

$$T(s) = \frac{C(s)G(s)}{1 + C(s)G(s)}$$
(1.1)

The transfer function from the reference r(s) to the controller input u(s) yields:

$$Q(s) = \frac{C(s)}{1 + C(s)G(s)}$$
(1.2)

if Q(s) and G(s) are known, the controller C(s) can be expressed as:

$$C(s) = \frac{Q(s)}{1 - G(s)Q(s)}$$
(1.3)

If C(s) is stabilizing G(s), Q(s) is stable and proper. Reciprocally, if Q(s) is stable and proper, it is easy to demonstrate that C(s) stabilizes G(s) using (1.3). Thus, stabilizing controllers can be parametrized in terms of the set of all stable proper functions Q(s) for a given plant G(s).

Conversely, a dual concept is proposed by leading the same reasoning in (1.2) and (1.3) and use the fact that C(s) and G(s) are commutative. The set of all plants stabilized by a given stabilizing controller is characterized using the so called dual YK parameter S(s) [14].

1.1.2 Strong stablization

In a control system, the zeros and poles of the controller and the plant should be considered. In the feedback control system, a stable controller stabilize a plant to make the control system stable. We call this stabilization as strong stabilization. In fact, not all the plant have strongly stabilizing controllers, that is, not all the plant could be stabilized by a stable controller. So, we should search for the plant which could be strongly stabilizable plant by using this condition. But they just gave a method to identify the strong stabilizable plants, but not the special form of strongly stabilizable plants. From this point of view Hoshikawa et al. clarify the characteristic of strongly stabilizable single-input/single-output plants [13]. And Akuzawa et al. propose the parameterization of all strongly stabilizing controllers for strongly stabilizable single-input/single-output plants [8]. The strong stabilization can be applied to control systems working in an environment where the feedback interconnection is easy to break. Examples are power plants and communication networks [8].

1.2 A trend of a study for minimum-phase system

Compared with the non-minimum phase system, the minimum-phase system has fast response, small energy delay [15], stable inverse system and other advantages [16]. Comparing with the nonminimum-phase system constructed by configuring the right half-plane zero point or adding the time-delay, it is obtained that the minimum-phase system has the shortest response time [16]. At any time, the cumulative output energy of the minimum phase system is not less than that of the non-minimum phase system. It can be proved that the cumulative output energy of the minimum phase system of the minimum-phase system is closer to time 0 and has the shortest energy delay [15]. And the inverse system of the minimum-phase system is stable, because the stable poles of the inverse system of the minimum-phase system is widely used in signal processing [15] and other related fields, such as state system, design of causal stable digital filter [17], neural network and calculation [18] and processing of cepstrum and inverse filtering [19].

1.2.1 Simple parameterization of stabilizing controllers for linear minimum-phase plants

Glaria and Goodwin provided a simple parameterization for the clase of stabilizing controllers for linear singleinput single-output minimum-phase plants [4].

The result in [4] is the dual of the well-known parameterization for the class of all stabilizing controllers for linear single-input single-output stable plants in (1.3).

According to [4], a single-input single-output plant having transfer function G(s) such that $G^{-1}(s)$ is analytic in the closed right half plane. The closed-loop system shown in Figure I is internally stable if and only if C(s)is parameterized as

$$C(s) = \frac{1}{Q(s)} - \frac{1}{G(s)},$$
(1.4)

where 1/Q(s) is any stable nonzero transfer function.

For the parameterization given in (1.4), the sensitivity function S(s) and complementary sensitivity function T(s) are provided in Q(s) separately

$$S(s) = \frac{Q(s)}{G(s)},\tag{1.5}$$

$$T(s) = 1 - \frac{Q(s)}{G(s)}.$$
(1.6)

And they added a simple linear constraint to the design to automatically guarantee the properness.

1.2.2 Parameterization of all proper internally stabilizing controllers for minimumphase systems

Yamada presents a parameterization for the class of all proper stabilizing controllers for linear minimum phase systems [5]. He notes that the parameterization of the stabilizing controller C(s) given by Glaria and Goodwin generally includes improper controllers and the controller C(s) is required to be proper.

According to [5], if G(s) is of minimum-phase and biporper, then the proper internally stabilizing controller C(s) for the unity feedback control system in Figure I is parametrized as

$$C(s) = \frac{1}{Q(s)} - \frac{1}{G(s)},$$
(1.7)

where 1/Q(s) is any minimum-phase and biproper rational function.

On the other hand, if G(s) is assumed to be minimum-phase and strictly proper, there exists K(s) satisfies the following expressions:

- G(s) + K(s) is of minimum-phase.
- K(s) is biproper and asymptotically stable.

The parameterization of all proper stabilizing controllers C(s) for G(s) is given by

$$C(s) = \frac{\bar{C}(s)}{1 + \bar{C}(s)K(s)},$$
(1.8)

where $\bar{C}(s)$ is denoted by

$$\bar{C}(s) = \frac{1}{Q(s)} - \frac{1}{G(s) + K(s)},\tag{1.9}$$

and the free parameter 1/Q(s) is any nonsingular proper minimum-phase rational transfer function.

1.3 The purpose and contents of this study

In this thesis, a study on the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimum-phase plants is considered.

In chapter 2, we propose the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimumphase stabilizing biproper plants. That is, we consider the parameterization that the stabilizing controller makes minimum-phase biproper plant stable, which the stabilizing controller is of minimum-phase. Analysis of the internal stability of closed-loop system are considered. We also present a design method of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase biproper plants that satisifies the robustness of the control system according to the internal model principle. In addition, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. In order to check the robustness of this example, we considered this situation that the minimum-phase controller stabilizes the perturbed plant. And we compare the proposed design method with that of [25].

In chapter 3, we propose the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimumphase stabilizing strictly proper plants. That is, we consider the parameterization that the stabilizing controller makes minimum-phase strictly proper plant stable, which the stabilizing controller is of minimum-phase. Analysis of the internal stability and control characteristics of closed-loop system are provided. We also present a design method of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers that contributes to the construction of a minimumphase closed-loop system and check the robustness of the proposed design method. In addition, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method.

In chapter 4, we propose the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimumphase stabilizing multiple-input multiple-output plants. In this chapter, we extend the conclusions of the previous two chapters to multiple-input multiple-output systems. The control system characteristics with the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase biproper multiple-input multiple-output plants is shown. In addition, we propose a design method of stabilizing minimum-phase controllers based on the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants satisifying the robustness. We also show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. At last, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimumphase strictly proper multiple-input multiple-output plants. In this way we obtain the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase.

In Chapter 5 Summaries the result of the present study by the conclusion.

Chapter 2

The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-phase Controllers for Minimum-phase SISO Biproper Plants

2.1 Introduction

Compared with the non-minimum phase system, the minimum-phase system has fast response, small energy delay [15], stable inverse system and other advantages [16]. Comparing with the nonminimum-phase system constructed by configuring the right half-plane zero point or adding the time-delay, it is obtained that the minimum-phase system has the shortest response time [16]. At any time, the cumulative output energy of the minimum phase system is not less than that of the non-minimum phase system. It can be proved that the cumulative output energy of the minimum phase system of the minimum phase system of the minimum-phase system is closer to time 0 and has the shortest energy delay [15]. And the inverse system of the minimum-phase system is stable, because the stable poles of the inverse system of the advantages, the minimum-phase system is widely used in signal processing [15] and other related fields, such as state system, design of causal stable digital filter [17], neural network and calculation [18] and processing of cepstrum and inverse filtering [19].

For minimum-phase system, Glaria and Goodwin [4] gave a simple parameterization of controllers for linear minimum-phase plants. However, two difficulties remain. One is that the parameterization of all stabilizing controller given by Glaria and Goodwin generally includes improper controllers. In practical applications, the controller is required to be proper. The other is that they do not give the parameterization of all internally stabilizing controllers. Yamada overcame these problems and proposed the parameterization of all proper internally stabilizing controllers for linear minimum-phase plants [5]. The parameterization of all stabilizing controllers in [5] is applied to many control problems such as the parameterization of all stabilizing modified repetitive controllers for minimum-phase plants [20], adaptive control systems [21, 22], model feedback control systems [23], parallel compensation technique [24], PI control [25] and PID control [26]. Chen et al. proposed the parameterization of all proper stabilizing internal model controllers for minimum-phase unstable plants. Expanded from the result, the parameterization of all strongly stabilizable plants is clarified in [11, 13].

However, there exists a question whether or not, stabilizing controllers for minimum-phase plants can be of minimum-phase that has advantages such as the inverse system of the minimum-phase system is still stable. The inverse system of the minimum-phase system is stable, because the stable poles of the inverse system of the minimum phase system is the stable zeros of the original system. If we use a minimum-phase controller to stabilize a minimum-phase plant, it would make the sensitivity function of this system lower. And Lower values of sensitivity function suggest further attenuation of the external disturbance. The minimum-phase system is widely used in signal processing and other related fields, such as state system, design of causal stable digital filter, and calculation and processing of cepstrum and inverse filtering. If the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase system. From this viewpoint, it is desirable to clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants.

In this chapter, we propose the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimumphase biproper plants, that is, we consider the parameterization that the stabilizing controller makes minimumphase plant stable, which the stabilizing controller is of minimum-phase. This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 2.2, we show the problem considered in this chapter. In Section 2.3, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase biproper plants. And analysis of the internal stability of closed-loop system are provided. In Section 2.6, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. In order to check the robustness of this example, we considered this situation that the minimum-phase controller stabilizes the perturbed plant. And we compare the proposed design method with that of [25]. By using the same Q(s), the controller that we obtained by the proposed method is of minimum-phase. In contrast, by using the previous method, the controllers that we obtain are not necessarily of minimum-phase. In Section 2.7 we give concluding remarks.

2.2 Problem Formulation

Consider the control system in

$$\begin{cases} y(s) = G(s)u(s) \\ u(s) = C(s)(r(s) - y(s)) \end{cases},$$
(2.1)

where $G(s) \in R(s)$ is the plant, $C(s) \in R(s)$ is the controller, $y(s) \in R(s)$ is the output, $u(s) \in R(s)$ is the control input and $r(s) \in R(s)$ is the reference input. R(s) denotes the set of real rational functions with s. G(s) and C(s) are assumed to be of minimum-phase, that is, G(s) and C(s) have no zero in the closed right half plane. And G(s) is assumed to be biproper. The minimum-phase controller controls the minimum-phase plant to make the closed-loop system in (2.1) stable.

According to [5], if G(s) is of minimum-phase and biproper, then the proper controller C(s) stabilize the feedback control system in (2.1) if and only if C(s) is parametrized as

$$C(s) = \frac{1}{Q(s)} - \frac{1}{G(s)},$$
(2.2)

where 1/Q(s) is any minimum-phase and biproper rational function. And C(s) is not necessarily of minimum-phase

The problem considered in this paper is to clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants.

2.3 The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Biproper Plants

In this section, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers C(s) for minimum-phase biproper plants G(s).

This parameterization is summarized in the following theorem.

Theorem 2.3.1 G(s) is assumed to be of minimum-phase and to be biproper. Then the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes the feedback control system in (2.1) if and only if C(s) is written by the form of

$$C(s) = \frac{Q(s)}{(1 - Q(s))G(s)},$$
(2.3)

where $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(1 - Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$.

(Proof)

First, the necessity is shown. That is, we show that if the minimum-phase controller C(s) makes minimum-phase plant G(s) stable, then C(s) takes the form of (??). From the assumption that C(s) in (??) makes G(s) in (2.1) stable, 1/(1 + C(s)G(s)), C(s)/(1 + C(s)G(s)), G(s)/(1 + C(s)G(s)) and C(s)G(s)/(1 + C(s)G(s)) are all included in RH_{∞} . RH_{∞} denotes the set of stable proper real rational functions.

From the assumption that G(s) and C(s) are both assumed to be of minimum-phase,

$$\frac{1+C(s)G(s)}{C(s)G(s)} = 1 + \frac{1}{C(s)G(s)}$$
(2.4)

is stable. Using $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$, $C(s)G(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)) \in RH_{\infty}$ can be rewritten as

$$\frac{C(s)G(s)}{1+C(s)G(s)} = Q(s).$$
(2.5)

From (2.4) and (2.5), Q(s) must be of minimum-phase. From simple manipulation, (2.5) is rewritten as

$$C(s) = \frac{Q(s)}{(1 - Q(s))G(s)}.$$
(2.6)

2.4. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE CONTROL SYSTEM

Thus, the necessity has been shown.

Next, the sufficiency is shown. That is, if C(s) takes the form of (??), then the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes the minimum-phase plant G(s) to make the control system stable. Then we set C(s) as

$$C(s) = \frac{Q(s)}{(1 - Q(s))G(s)},$$
(2.7)

where $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any minimum-phase function and $(1-Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any function. If the controller C(s) makes G(s) stable, according to definition of internal stability, the transfer functions 1/(1 + C(s)G(s)), C(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)), G(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)) and C(s)G(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)) are stable. After simple manipulation, the transfer functions are rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{1+C(s)G(s)} = 1 - Q(s), \tag{2.8}$$

$$\frac{C(s)}{1 + C(s)G(s)} = \frac{Q(s)}{G(s)},$$
(2.9)

$$\frac{G(s)}{1+C(s)G(s)} = (1-Q(s))G(s)$$
(2.10)

and

$$\frac{C(s)G(s)}{1+C(s)G(s)} = Q(s).$$
(2.11)

Because $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and G(s) is of minimum-phase, transfer functions in (2.8), (2.9) and (2.11) are stable. If the transfer function in (2.10) is unstable, unstable poles of the transfer function in (2.10) are unstable poles of G(s). From the assumption that $(1-Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$, unstable poles of G(s) are not poles of (1-Q(s))G(s). Therefore, the transfer function in (2.10) is stable. Thus, the sufficiency has been shown.

We have thus proved Theorem 3.3.1.

2.4 Characteristics of the control system

We elucidate the characteristics of the closed-loop control system using the parameterization of all the stabilizing minimum-phase controllers given by (2.3) in this section.

First, the reference tracking characteristic is considered. Here, using the parameterization of all minimumphase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase plants in (??), the transfer function in (3.1) from the reference input r(s) to the output y(s) of the control system is given as

$$\frac{y(s)}{r(s)} = \frac{C(s)G(s)}{1 + C(s)G(s)} = Q(s).$$
(2.12)

Therefore, in order to make the output y(s) follow the step reference input r(s) = 1/s without steady-state error,

$$Q(0) = 1 (2.13)$$

must be achieved. Thus, the output y(s) follows the step reference input r(s) = 1/s without steady-state error, if Q(s) satisfies the following condition

$$Q(0) = 1. (2.14)$$

Next, we consider the disturbance attenuation characteristic. The transfer function from the disturbance d(s) to the output y(s) is given as

$$\frac{y(s)}{d(s)} = \frac{1}{1 + C(s)G(s)} = 1 - Q(s).$$
(2.15)

Therefore, in order to fully decay the step disturbance d(s) = 1/s,

$$1 - Q(0) = 0 \tag{2.16}$$

must be achieved. Thus, the step disturbance of d(s) = 1/s will effectively be rejected if Q(s) satisfies the following condition

$$Q(0) = 1. (2.17)$$

2.5 Design method of minimum-phase stabilizing controllers

In this section, we propose a design method of stabilizing minimum-phase controllers. First, the concept of the design is considered. In this chapter, the plant is of minimum-phase and biproper. By using the parameterization of stabilizing minimum-phase controllers C(s) for minimum-phase biproper plants G(s), Q(s) should be proper and make (1 - Q(s))G(s) be proper to make the controller be proper. We also need to settle Q(s) should be minimum-phase and make (1 - Q(s))G(s) be stable to make the controller be minimum-phase. Furthermore, in order to make the output y(s) follow the reference input r(s) = 1/s without steady-state error and attenuate the step disturbance d(s) = 1/s completely, Q(s) needs to satisfy (2.14) and (2.17). Then a design method for the minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) is concluded as follows.

1. Let G(s) be factorized as

$$G(s) = G_1(s)G_2(s), (2.18)$$

where $G_1(s)$ is biproper and of minimum-phase and contains all unstable poles of G(s) and $G_2(s)$ is biproper and of minimum-phase and contains all stable poles of G(s).

2. Using $G_1(s)$, design $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ as

$$Q(s) = 1 - \frac{ks}{G_1(s)(\tau s + 1)^{\alpha}},$$
(2.19)

where $\tau \in R$, α is an arbitrary positive integer to make Q(s) proper, k is a constant and s confirm Q(0) = 1

3. Using Q(s) in (2.19), fix a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) in (2.3).

First, we show the parameter $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is of minimum-phase. Because $G_1(s)$ in (2.18) is biproper and α is an arbitrary positive integer, Q(s) is proper in (2.19). Since $G_1(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ contains the unstable poles of G(s), that is G_1 is minimum-phase and unstable, Q(s) is stable and of minimum-phase. Next, we check that (1 - Q(s))G(s) is stable and proper. By substituting (2.19) into (1 - Q(s))G(s),

$$(1 - Q(s))G(s) = G_2(s)\frac{ks}{(\tau s + 1)^{\alpha}}$$
(2.20)

is obtained. As $G_2(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ in (2.18), (1 - Q(s))G(s) is obviously stable and proper. Finally, we find that $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ defined by (2.19) is guaranteed to satisify (2.14).

2.6 Numerical example

In this section, a numerical example is illustrated to show that a stabilizing minimum-phase controller written by the form of (2.3) can stabilize the minimum-phase plant.

Consider the problem to make the control system in (2.1) stable using stabilizing minimum-phase controller, where the minimum-phase and biproper plant G(s) is given by

$$G(s) = \frac{(s+3)(s+7)}{(s-1)(s+5)}.$$
(2.21)

First G(s) in (2.21) is factorized by (2.18), where

$$G_1(s) = \frac{s+3}{s-1} \tag{2.22}$$

and

$$G_2(s) = \frac{s+7}{s+5}.$$
(2.23)

Using $G_1(s)$ in (2.22), $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is given by (2.19) and written by

$$Q(s) = \frac{5(s+0.6)}{(s+3)(s+1)},$$
(2.24)

where k, α , and τ are settled by

$$k = 1, \tag{2.25}$$

and

$$=1$$
 (2.26)

$$\tau = 1. \tag{2.27}$$

By substituting (2.19) into (1 - Q(s))G(s), we obtain

$$(1 - Q(s))G(s) = \frac{s(s+7)}{(s+1)(s+5)}.$$
(2.28)

From (2.21) and (2.24), a stabilizing controller C(s) written by the form of (2.3) to make the control system in (2.1) stable is written as

 α

$$C(s) = \frac{5(s+0.6)(s+5)}{(s+1)(s+5)}.$$
(2.29)

C(s) in (2.29) is obviously of minimum-phase. Therefore if C(s) in (2.29) makes G(s) in (2.21) stable, then C(s) in (2.29) is a stabilizing minimum-phase controller for the minimum-phase plant G(s) in (2.21).

Using the minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) in (2.29), the response of the output y(t) of the closedloop system (2.1) for the step reference input r(t) = 1 is depicted in Figure I. Figure I verifies that the closed-loop system in (2.1) is stable and that the output y(t) follows the step reference input r(t) = 1 with no steady-state error. In contrast, when the step disturbance d(t) = 1 is exerted, the response of the output y(t) of the closed-loop system (2.1) is depicted in Figure II. Figure II verifies that the disturbance d(t) = 1 is completely attenuated.



Fig. I: Response of the output y(t) of the control system in (2.1) for the step reference input r(t) = 1

The presented example shows that the proposed method can design a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) based on reference tracking and the disturbance attenuation characteristics.

To check the robustness of the proposed design method, we consider the situation where a minimum-phase controller C(s) in (2.29) is required to stabilize the plant

$$G_1(s) = \frac{(s-7.3)(s+1)}{(s-1)(s+3)(s+5)},$$
(2.30)



Fig. II: Response of the output y(t) of the control system in (2.1) for the step disturbance d(t) = 1

which is obtained by perturbing the plant G(s). In this situation, the response of the output y(t) for the step reference input r(t) = 1 is depicted in Figure III. The response of the output y(t) for the step disturbance d(t) = 1 is depicted in Figure IV. Figures III and IV indicate that the closed-loop system with the proposed controller (2.29) possesses robustness against the plant perturbation.

Furthermore, we compare the proposed design method with that of [5] where C(s) is parametrized as

$$C(s) = \frac{1}{Q(s)} - \frac{1}{G(s)}.$$
(2.31)

By using the same Q(s) in (2.24), we obtain another controller written as

$$C(s) = \frac{99(s+1)(s+3.602)(s^2-10.49s+35.9)}{(s+200)(s+7)(s+5)(s+2)}.$$
(2.32)

Here, the zeros of C(s) are -1, -3.602 and $5.245 \pm 2.967j$, and C(s) in (2.32) is obviously of nonminimum-phase. Therefore by using the method of [5], the controllers that we obtain are not necessarily of minimum-phase.

2.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, we clarified the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimumphase bipoper plants. That is, we showed that if the stabilizing controller C(s) is written by the form of (2.3), the minimum-phase plant is stabilized. We also present a design method of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase biproper plants that satisifies the robustness of the control system according to the internal model principle. In addition, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. In order to check the robustness of this example, we considered this situation that the minimum-phase controller stabilizes the perturbed plant. And we compare the proposed design method with that of [26]. By using the same Q(s), the controller that we obtained by the proposed method is of minimum-phase. In contrast, by using the previous method, the controllers that we obtain are not necessarily of minimum-phase.



Fig. III: Response of the output y(t) of the control system of $G_1(s)$ for the step reference input r(t) = 1



Fig. IV: Response of the output y(t) of the control system of $G_1(s)$ for the step disturbance d(t) = 1

Chapter 3

The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase SISO Strictly Proper Plants

3.1 Introduction.

In this chapter, we expend the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase biproper single-input single-output plants to the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase strictly proper single-input single-output plants. In the minimum-phase single-input singleoutput system, the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers is given.

Glaria and Goodwin provided a simplified parameterization for the stability control of the minimum-phase[4]. However, there are two difficult problems. One of them is that the parameterization of stabilizing controllers proposed by Glaria and Goodwin usually contain improper controllers. In the specific process of use, a proper controller is needed. Second, the internally stability in the system is not parameterized. In order to solve the above problems, Yamada presents a parameterization for the class of all proper stabilizing controllers for linear minimum phase systems [5]. In order to guarantee proper controllers, a restriction of the free parameter Q(s)by Glaria and Goodwin is traded by a choice of an adequate rational function K(s). It is shown that there exists an adequate rational function K(s). To achieve the internally stability condition, it is shown that the free parameter Q(s) must be biproper stable rational function.

As the parameterization of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase biproper plants is proposed, the parameterization of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase strictly proper plants is required. Since the parameterization of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase plants is clarified, it is used in a wide range of applications, for example it can be used as a special inverse system for strong stable control, which is stable for both the controller and the controlled plant [29]. If the stabilizing controller with nonminimum-phase is used, its unstable zeros will cause the transfer function of the closed-loop system to have zeros on its right half plane. This makes the closed-loop control system very sensitive to the disturbance of the external environment, thus affecting the control effect. In addition, if the feedback loop is truncated, that is, it is split into a feedforward, then the instability caused by it will lead to instability [7, 8]. In this way, even though the controlled plant is of minimum-phase, the control system becomes an non-minimum system. If the minimum-phase control is adopted, the target of the minimum-phase will remain unchanged, and the the magnitude of sensitivity of the whole system will become small. The lower the sensitivity curve, the greater the damping to external interference. If the minimum-phase controllers of the minimum-phase plants can be parameterized, a new control strategy for the minimum phase system can be obtained. Therefore, for the strictly proper controlled plants with minimum-phase, the minimum-phase controllers must be parameterized.

In this chapter, we propose the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimumphase strictly proper plants. That is, we consider the parameterization that the stabilizing controller makes minimum-phase plant stable, which the stabilizing controller is of minimum-phase. Analysis of the internal stability and control characteristics of closed-loop system are provided. We also present a design method of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers that contributes to the construction of a minimum-phase closed-loop system. In addition, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. This paper is organized as follows: In Section 3.2, we show the problem considered in this chapter. In Section 3.3, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase strictly proper single input singleoutput plants and the analysis the internal stability of closed-loop system. In Section 3.4, we present the control system characteristics with the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase strictly proper plants. In Section 3.5, we present a design method of stabilizing minimumphase controllers based on the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants given in Section 3.3. In Section 3.6, we show a numerical example to illustrate the effectiveness of the proposed method. And check the robustness of this example by using a perturbed plant. In Section 3.7, we give concluding remarks.

3.2 Problem formulation

In this section, we introduce the problem considered in this paper. We consider a closed loop feedback control system as,

$$\begin{cases} y(s) = G(s)u(s) + d(s) \\ u(s) = C(s)(r(s) - y(s)) \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

Here, $y(s) \in R(s)$, $u(s) \in R(s)$, $r(s) \in R(s)$ and $d(s) \in R(s)$ are the output, control input, reference input and disburtance of the control system respectively. $G(s) \in R(s)$ and $C(s) \in R(s)$ are the controller and the plant of the control system separately, and both of them are of minimum-phase, that means, all zeros of them are in the left half plane. In this paper, the controlled plant G(s) with minimum-phase is required to be strictly proper and it is possible to be stable or unstable. By using the parameterization of the minimum-phase stabilizing controller for the minimum-phase plant, the controller C(s) is required to be derived. In the specific process of use, a proper controller is needed and the internally stability and the robustness of the control system need to be considered. Here R(s) indicates the set of real rational functions for the set with s.

The problem considered in this paper is to clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers C(s) for minimum-phase strictly proper plants G(s).

3.3 The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Strictly Proper Plants

In this section, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers C(s) for minimumphase strictly proper plants G(s).

This parameterization is summarized in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.3.1 Assume that G(s) is strictly proper and of minimum-phase. When K(s) exists in a system of equations, K(s) is a stable and biproper real rational function and make G(s)+K(s) be a biproper and minimum-phase real rational function. Utilizing the above K(s), for all proper minimum-phase stabilizing controllers C(s) of the plant G(s) with strictly proper and minimum-phase, the parameters are as follows

$$C(s) = \frac{\bar{C}(s)}{1 + \bar{C}(s)K(s)}.$$
(3.2)

Here, $\overline{C}(s)$ is expressed as

$$\bar{C}(s) = \frac{Q(s)}{(1 - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s))}$$
(3.3)

and $\bar{Q}(s)$ is the minimum-phase function belong to RH_{∞} and to make $(1 - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s)) \in RH_{\infty}$.

For proving the Theorem 3.3.1, the following thereoms are needed.

Theorem 3.3.2 Assume that G(s) is strictly proper and minimum-phase. When K(s) exists in a system of equations, K(s) is a stable and biproper real rational function and make G(s) + K(s) be a biproper and minimum-phase real rational function.

(Proof)

At first, G(s) is factorized into the coprime factors with $N(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and $D(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ on RH_{∞} and G(s) is rewriten in the form of

$$G(s) = \frac{N(s)}{D(s)}.$$
(3.4)

Here, because G(s) is assumed to be of minimum-phase and strictly proper, $N(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is of minimum-phase and strictly proper. In addition, G(s) + K(s) is donated as

$$G(s) + K(s) = \frac{N(s) + K(s)D(s)}{D(s)},$$
(3.5)

Then, the exist condition of K(s) is that G(s) + K(s) is a biproper and minimum-phase, and consistent with that of $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying

$$U(s) = N(s) + K(s)D(s) \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(3.6)

Here, \mathcal{U} is the set of unimodular functions on RH_{∞} , so $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ implies $U(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and $U^{-1}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$. The existence conditions of U(s) and K(s) is equivalent to the interpolation problem and are written as

$$\frac{d^j}{ds^j}U(s_i) = \frac{d^j}{ds^j}N(s_i) \quad (j = 0, ...m_i - 1; i = 1, ...l),$$
(3.7)

where s_1, \ldots, s_l are different zeros of D(s) on the positive real axis, m_1, \ldots, m_l are the corresponding multiplicities and l denotes the number of different zeros of D(s) on the positive real axis. Since G(s) is of minimum-phase, N(s) is also of minimum-phase. This implies that all of $N(s_i)$ are the same sign. From Theorem 2.3.1 in [7], there exists $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying (3.7). This implies that there exists $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying (3.6).

The remaining problem is whether or not, K(s) is biproper. Next, it is shown that if $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ exists such that (3.6) holds true, then K(s) is biproper. From (3.6), K(s) is written by

$$K(s) = \frac{U(s) - N(s)}{D(s)}.$$
(3.8)

The assumption that U(s) holds (3.6) implies that K(s) written by (3.8) is stable. Since both U(s) and D(s) are biproper and N(s) is strictly proper, K(s) denoted by (3.8) is biproper.

We have thus proved the theorem.

Theorem 3.3.3 Assume that $\overline{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is the real rational function with strictly proper and minimumphase. All minimum-phase stabilizing controllers $\overline{C}(s)$, its parameterization for the plant $\overline{G}(s)$ is denoted as

$$\bar{C}(s) = \frac{\bar{Q}(s)}{(1 - \bar{Q}(s))\bar{G}(s)}.$$
(3.9)

Here, $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any minimum-phase function and to make $(1 - \bar{Q}(s))\bar{G}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$.

(Proof)

Because $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is assumed to be the real rational function with strictly proper and minimumphase, according to Thereom 2.3.1, the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$, its parameterization for $\bar{G}(s)$ is denoted as (3.9).

We have thus proved the theorem.

Theorem 3.3.4 Assume that $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is biproper and G(s) is strictly proper. If the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes the plant G(s), then $\overline{C}(s)$ is written as

$$\bar{C}(s) = \frac{C(s)}{1 - C(s)K(s)}$$
(3.10)

stabilizes the plant $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. Furthermore, the opposite is also true. That is, if the minimum-phase controller $\bar{C}(s)$ stabilizes the plant $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$, then the the minimum-phase controller C(s) is written as

$$C(s) = \frac{\bar{C}(s)}{1 + \bar{C}(s)K(s)}$$
(3.11)

stabilizes the plant G(s).

(Proof)

First, we will prove that if the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes G(s), then the minimum-phase controller $\overline{C}(s)$ written by (3.10) stabilizes $\overline{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. K(s) is assumed to be biproper and C(s) is assumed to be of minimum-phase. In (3.10) if the $(1 - C(s)K(s))^{-1}$ has unstable zeros, the unstable zeros

are the unstable poles of C(s). Therefore, the $\bar{C}(s)$ has no unstable zeros, that is, $\bar{C}(s)$ is of minimum-phase. Then from (3.10) and simple manipulation, $1/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$, $\bar{C}(s)/(1 + \bar{C}(s)G(s))$, $\bar{G}(s)/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$ and $\bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s)/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$ are rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{1+\bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s)} = \frac{1-C(s)K(s)}{1+G(s)C(s)},\tag{3.12}$$

$$\frac{\bar{C}(s)}{1+\bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s)} = \frac{C(s)}{1+G(s)C(s)},\tag{3.13}$$

$$\frac{\bar{G}(s)}{1+\bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s)} = \frac{(G(s)+K(s))(1-C(s)K(s))}{1+G(s)C(s)},$$
(3.14)

and

$$\frac{C(s)G(s)}{1+\bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s)} = \frac{(G(s)+K(s))C(s)}{1+G(s)C(s)}.$$
(3.15)

From the assumption that C(s) stabilizes G(s), 1/(1 + C(s)G(s)), C(s)/(1 + C(s)G(s)), G(s)/(1 + C(s)G(s))and C(s)G(s)/(1 + C(s)G(s)) are all include in RH_{∞} . Therefore, all of transfer functions in (3.12), (3.13), (3.14) and (3.15) are include in RH_{∞} .

Next, we will show that if the minimum-phase controller $\overline{C}(s)$ stabilizes the plant $\overline{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$, then the minimum-phase controller C(s) written by (3.11) stabilizes G(s). In (3.11) if the $(1 + \overline{C}(s)K(s))^{-1}$ has unstable zeros, the unstable zeros are the unstable poles of C(s). Therefore, the C(s) has no unstable zeros, that is, C(s) is of minimum-phase. Then from (3.11) and simple manipulation, 1/(1+C(s)G(s)), C(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)), G(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)) and C(s)G(s)/(1+C(s)G(s)) are rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{1+C(s)G(s)} = \frac{1+C(s)K(s)}{1+\bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s)},\tag{3.16}$$

$$\frac{C(s)}{1+C(s)G(s)} = \frac{\bar{C}(s)}{1+\bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s)},\tag{3.17}$$

$$\frac{G(s)}{1+C(s)G(s)} = \frac{(\bar{G}(s) - K(s))(1+\bar{C}(s)K(s))}{1+\bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s)},$$
(3.18)

and

$$\frac{C(s)G(s)}{1+C(s)G(s)} = \frac{(\bar{G}(s) - K(s))\bar{C}(s)}{1+\bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s)}.$$
(3.19)

From the assumption that $\bar{C}(s)$ stabilizes $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$, $1/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$, $\bar{C}(s)/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$, $\bar{G}(s)/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$ and $\bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s)/(1 + \bar{C}(s)\bar{G}(s))$ are all include in RH_{∞} . Therefore, all of transfer functions in (3.16), (3.17), (3.18) and (3.19) are include in RH_{∞} .

We have thus proved Theorem 3.3.4.

Theorem 3.3.1 is proved using the above-described theorems.

(Proof)

From Theorem 3.3.2, there exists biproper $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ to make $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ of minimum phase. From Theorem 3.3.4, the parametrization of all internally stabilizing controllers C(s) for G(s) is same to that of all internally stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$ for $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. The parametrization of all internally stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$ for $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is given by (3.9), where $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(1 - \bar{Q}(s))\bar{G}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$. The equation (3.9) corresponds to (3.3). From Theorem 3.3.4, using $\bar{C}(s)$, C(s) is written in terms of (3.11). The equation (3.11) corresponds to (3.2). The proof of Theorem 3.3.1 is complete.

3.4 Characteristics of the control system

We elucidate the properties of the closed-loop control system using the parameterization of all the stabilizing minimum-phase controllers given by (3.2) in this section.

First, we consider the reference tracking property. Here, using the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase plants in (3.2), the transfer function in (3.1) from the reference input r(s) to the output y(s) of the control system is given as

$$\frac{y(s)}{r(s)} = \frac{\bar{Q}(s)G(s)}{G(s) + K(s)}.$$
(3.20)

Therefore, in order to make the output y(s) follow the step reference input r(s) = 1/s without steady-state error,

$$\frac{\bar{Q}(0)G(0)}{G(0) + K(0)} = 1 \tag{3.21}$$

must be achieved. Thus, the output y(s) follows the step reference input r(s) = 1/s without steady-state error, if $\bar{Q}(s)$ satisfies the following condition

$$\bar{Q}(0) = 1 + \frac{K(0)}{G(0)}.$$
(3.22)

Next, the decay properties of the disturbance are described. The transfer function from the disturbance d(s) to the output y(s) is given as

$$\frac{y(s)}{d(s)} = 1 - \frac{\bar{Q}(s)G(s)}{G(s) + K(s)}.$$
(3.23)

Therefore, in order to fully decay the step disturbance d(s) = 1/s,

$$\frac{Q(0)G(0)}{G(0) + K(0)} = 1 \tag{3.24}$$

must be achieved. Thus, the step disturbance of d(s) = 1/s will effectively be rejected if $\overline{Q}(s)$ satisfies the following condition

$$\bar{Q}(0) = 1 + \frac{K(0)}{G(0)}.$$
(3.25)

3.5 Design method of minimum-phase stabilizing controllers

First, the concept of the design is considered. In this chapter, the plant G(s) is of minimum-phase and strictly proper. The parameterization for biproper minimum-phase plants can not be used for the strictly proper plants, because that will make the controller to be not proper. From Theorem 3.3.2, K(s) is stable and biproper and to make the G(s) + K(s) be of minimum-phase and biproper. Then, $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is determined as a function of any minimum-phase such that $(1 - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s)) \in RH_{\infty}$ from Theorem 3.3.3. Furthermore, in order to make the output y(s) follow the reference input r(s) = 1/s without steady-state error and attenuate the step disturbance d(s) = 1/s completely, $\bar{Q}(s)$ needs to satisfy (3.22). Then a design method for the minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) is concluded as follows.

- 1. Obtain K(s) that satisfies Theorem 3.3.2, and such that G(s) + K(s) is of minimum-phase and biproper.
- 2. Obtain $\overline{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ that is of minimum-phase and biproper function.
- 3. Define a function $\hat{Q}(s)$ as

$$\hat{Q}(s) = -\frac{K(s)}{G(s)}.$$
 (3.26)

4. Using $\hat{Q}(s)$ in (3.26), design $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ as

$$\bar{Q}(s) = 1 - \hat{Q}(s) \frac{1}{(\tau s + 1)^{\alpha}},$$
(3.27)

where $\tau \in R$ and α is an arbitrary positive integer to make $\bar{Q}(s)$ proper, that is α is greater than or equal to the relative degree of the plant G(s).

5. Using $\overline{Q}(s)$ in (3.27), fix a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) in (3.2).

First, we show the parameter $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is of minimum-phase. Even if K(s) is biproper and G(s) is strictly proper, there exists α that is greater than or equal to the relative degree of the plant G(s), in order that $\bar{Q}(s)$ is proper in (3.27). In (3.26), since K(s) is stable and G(s) is of minimum-phase, $\hat{Q}(s)$ is stable. Substituting $\hat{Q}(s)$ in (3.26) into (3.27), $\bar{Q}(s)$ is stable an of minimum-phase. Next, we check that $(1 - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s))$ is stable and proper. By substituting (3.27) and (3.4) into $(1 - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s))$,

$$(1 - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s)) = -\frac{1}{(\tau s + 1)^{\alpha}} \frac{K(s)}{N(s)} (N(s) + K(s)D(s)).$$
(3.28)

Here, N(s)+K(s)D(s) belong to \mathcal{U} , K(s) is biproper and stable and N(s) is strictly proper and minimum-phase, so $(1-\bar{Q}(s))(G(s)+K(s))$ is proper and stable. Finally, we find that $\bar{Q}(s)$ defined by (3.27) is guaranteed to satisfy (3.22) and (3.25), that means, the proposed method can design a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) based on reference tracking and the disturbance attenuation characteristics.

3.6 Numerical example

This section shows a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method.

Consider the problem to find a minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the plant G(s) written by

$$G(s) = \frac{(s+3)}{(s-1)(s+2)}.$$
(3.29)

By Thereom 3.3.2, we obtian

$$K(s) = \frac{(s+1.657)(s+3.529)(s+5.814)}{(s+2)^2(s+9)}.$$
(3.30)

Then, \bar{G} is writen as

$$\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s) = \frac{(s+5)(s+4)(s+1)^2}{(s-1)(s+2)^2(s+9)}.$$
(3.31)

From (3.26), $\hat{Q}(s)$ is written by

$$\hat{Q}(s) = -\frac{(s+1.657)(s+3.529)(s+5.814)(s-1)}{(s+9)(s+3)(s+2)}.$$
(3.32)

 $\bar{Q}(s)$ is given by (3.27), where α , and τ are settled by

$$\alpha = 1 \tag{3.33}$$

$$\tau = 0.1,\tag{3.34}$$

Then $\bar{Q}(s)$ is obtained as

$$\bar{Q}(s) = \frac{11(s+5.542)(s+3.735)(s+1.34)(s+0.6555)}{(s+9)(s+10)(s+3)(s+2)}.$$
(3.35)

Then the minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) is obtained as

$$C(s) = \frac{11(s+5.542)(s+3.735)(s+2)(s+1.34)(s+0.6555)}{s(s+3)(s+3.529)(s+1.657)(s+5.814)}.$$
(3.36)

For the step reference input r(t) = 1, the output of the closed-loop system y(t) reacts as follows I when using the minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) (3.36). In the curve of Figure I, it is proved that the controlled system is stable under the equation (3.1), and its output y(t) is equal to the step reference input r(t) = 1, and there is no steady-state deviation.

On the contrary, if there is a step disturbance, the output response of the closed-loop is displayed in the Figure II. The curve in Figure II confirms which the effect of this interference on d(t) = 1 is effective.

Next, to verify the robustness of the proposed method, we consider this case where we control a perturbed controlled plant with the controller that has been derived. The controlled plant is denoted as

$$G_1(s) = \frac{(s+10)}{(s-1)(s+2)}.$$
(3.37)



Fig. I: the response of the output of y(t) of the controlled system corresponding to the step reference input r(t) = 1

In this case, the output response corresponding to the step input r(t) = 1 is represented in Figure III. The figure reflects that output y(t) follows the step reference input r(t) well with no steady state error. And the output response corresponding to the step disturbance d(t) = 1 is represented in Figure IV. The figure reflects the ability to effectively stop external disturbance.

Furthermore, we compare the proposed design method with that of [5] where the controller C(s) for the strictly proper plant is parametrized as

$$C(s) = \frac{\bar{C}(s)}{1 + \bar{C}(s)K(s)}.$$
(3.38)

Here, $\bar{C}(s)$ is expressed as

$$\bar{C}(s) = \frac{1}{\bar{Q}(s)} - \frac{1}{G(s) + K(s)}.$$
(3.39)

By using the same Q(s) in (3.35) and K(s) in (3.30), we obtain another controller written as

$$C(s) = \frac{-10(s - 2.358)(s + 2.192)(s + 2)^2(s + 1.254)(s + 0.7462)(s + 3.744)(s + 5.522)(s + 9)}{(s + 18.74)(s + 8.692)(s + 5.533)(s + 3.741)(s + 3)(s + 2.56)(s + 1.733)(s + 1.258)(s + 0.744)}.$$
 (3.40)

Here, one the zeros of C(s) is 2.358 and C(s) in (3.40) is obviously of nonminimum-phase. Therefore by using the method of [5], the controllers that we obtain are not necessarily of minimum-phase.

3.7 Conclusions.

In this chapter, we propose the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimumphase stabilizing strictly proper single-input single-output plants. Analysis of the internal stability and control characteristics of closed-loop system are provided. We also present the control system characteristics with the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase strictly proper plants. The reference tracking characteristic and the disturbance attenuation characteristic is considered. In additon, a numerical example is illustrated for the effectiveness of the proposed method and the robustness of this example is checked by using a perturbed plant.



Fig. II: the response of the output of y(t) of the controlled system corresponding to the step disturbance d(t) = 1



Fig. III: the response of the output of y(t) of the controlled system with G_1 corresponding to the sstep reference input r(t) = 1



Fig. IV: the response of the output of y(t) of the controlled system with G_1 corresponding to the step disturbance d(t) = 1

Chapter 4

Parameterization for All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase MIMO Plants

4.1 Introduction.

In the chapter, we examine the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase multiple-input/multiple-output plants. The parameterization problem is the problem in which all stabilizing controllers for plants are sought. Since this parameterization can successfully search for all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers, it is used as a tool for many control problems.

Yamada presents a parameterization for the class of all proper stabilizing controllers for linear minimum phase systems [5]. The parameterization of all stabilizing controllers in [5] is applied to many control problems such as the parameterization of all stabilizing modified repetitive controllers for minimum-phase plants [20], adaptive control systems [21, 22], model feedback control systems [23], parallel compensation technique [24], PI control [25] and PID control [26]. In [28], Yamada et al. expand the result in [5] and propose the parametrization of all stabilizing controllers for multiple-input multiple-output minimum phase systems. As the parametrization of all stabilizing controllers for multiple-input/multiple-output minimum phase systems is obtained, the results in [20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26] are expanded for multiple-input multiple-output minimum-phase systems.

If a nonminimum-phase stabilizing controller is employed, the unstable zeros of the stabilizing controller make the closed-loop transfer function have zeros in the right half plane. This results in the closed-loop system that is very sensitive to disturbances and reduces the tracking performance to the reference input. Using the minimum-phase controllers can make the sensitivity function lower and the lower values of sensitivity function suggest further attenuation of the external disturbance. From this viewpoint, it is desirable to clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase multiple-mnput/multiple-output plants. The purpose of this paper is to propose the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase multiple-input/multiple-output plants.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 4.2, we show the problem considered in this chapter. In Section 4.3, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase biproper multiple-input multiple-output plants and the analysis the internal stability of closed-loop system. In Section 4.4, we show the control system characteristics with the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase biproper multiple-input multiple-output plants. In Section 4.5, we propose a design method of stabilizing minimum-phase controllers based on the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants given in Section 4.3 satisifying the robustness. In Section 4.6, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. In Section 4.7, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase strictly proper multiple-input multiple-output plants. In Section 4.7, we give concluding remarks.

4.2 **Problem Formulation**

Consider the control system in

$$\begin{cases} y(s) = G(s)u(s) + d(s) \\ u(s) = C(s)(r(s) - y(s)) \end{cases},$$
(4.1)

where $G(s) \in R^{m \times m}(s)$ is the plant, $C(s) \in R^{m \times m}(s)$ is the controller, $y(s) \in R^m(s)$ is the output, $u(s) \in R^m(s)$ is the control input and $r(s) \in R^m(s)$ is the reference input. R(s) denotes the set of real rational functions with s. G(s) and C(s) are assumed to be of minimum-phase, that is, G(s) and C(s) have no zero in the closed right half plane. And G(s) is assumed to be biproper or strictly proper, that is,

$$\det \lim_{s \to \infty} \{G(s)\} \neq 0 \tag{4.2}$$

or

$$\det \lim_{s \to \infty} \{G(s)\} = 0 \tag{4.3}$$

hold ture separately. The minimum-phase controller controls the minimum-phase plant to make the closed-loop system in (4.1) stable.

The problem considered in this paper is to clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase MIMO plants.

4.3 The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase MIMO Biproper Plants

In this section, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers C(s) for minimumphase MIMO biproper plants G(s).

This parameterization is summarized in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.3.1 G(s) is assumed to be of minimum-phase and to be biproper. Then the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes the feedback control system in (4.1) if and only if C(s) is written by the form of

$$C(s) = ((I - Q(s))G(s))^{-1}Q(s)$$

$$\left(\det\{\lim_{\omega \to \infty} ((I - Q(j\omega))G(j\omega))\} \neq 0\right),$$
(4.4)

where $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(I - Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$.

(Proof)

First, the necessity is shown. That is, we show that if the minimum-phase controller C(s) makes minimum-phase plant G(s) stable, then C(s) takes the form of (4.4). From the assumption that C(s) in (4.4) makes G(s) in (4.1) stable, $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)$, $C(s)(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}$ and $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s)$ are all included in RH_{∞} . RH_{∞} denotes the set of stable proper real rational functions.

From the assumption that G(s) and C(s) are both assumed to be of minimum-phase,

$$(G(s)C(s))^{-1}(I + G(s)C(s)) = I + (G(s)C(s))^{-1}$$
(4.5)

is stable. Using $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$, $((I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ can be rewritten as

$$(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s) = Q(s).$$
(4.6)

From (4.5) and (4.6), Q(s) must be of minimum-phase. From simple manipulation, (4.6) is rewritten as

$$C(s) = ((I - Q(s))G(s))^{-1}Q(s),$$
(4.7)

Thus, the necessity has been shown.

Next, the sufficiency is shown. That is, if C(s) takes the form of (4.4), then the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes the minimum-phase plant G(s) to make the control system stable. Then we set C(s) as

$$C(s) = ((I - Q(s))G(s))^{-1}Q(s),$$
(4.8)

where $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any minimum-phase function and $(1-Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any function. If the controller C(s) makes G(s) stable, according to definition of internal stability, the transfer functions $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}, (I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s), C(s)(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}$ and $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s)$ are stable. After simple manipulation, the transfer functions are rewritten as

$$(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1} = I - Q(s),$$
(4.9)

$$C(s)(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1} = Q(s)(G(s))^{-1},$$
(4.10)

 $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s) = (1 - Q(s))G(s)$ (4.11)

and

$$(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s) = Q(s).$$
(4.12)

Because $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and G(s) is of minimum-phase, transfer functions in (4.9), (4.10) and (4.12) are stable. If the transfer function in (4.11) is unstable, unstable poles of the transfer function in (4.11) are unstable poles of G(s). From the assumption that $(I-Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$, unstable poles of G(s) are not poles of (I-Q(s))G(s). Therefore, the transfer function in (4.11) is stable. Thus, the sufficiency has been shown.

We have thus proved Theorem 4.3.1.

4.4 Characteristics of closed-loop system

In this section, we investigate the characteristics of the closed-loop system with the stabilizing controller given by (4.4).

First, the reference tracking characteristic is considered. If the parameterization of all stabilizing minimumphase controllers for minimum-phase MIMO Biproper plants in (4.4) is employed, the transfer function from the reference input r(s) to the output y(s) of the control system in (4.1) is given by

$$y(s) = Q(s)r(s). \tag{4.13}$$

Therefore, for the output y(s) to follow the step reference input

$$r(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{s} \\ \frac{1}{s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.14)

without steady-state error,

$$Q(0) = I \tag{4.15}$$

must be satisfied. If Q(s) is chosen to satisfy (4.15) the output y(s) follows the step reference input r(s) without steady-state error.

Next, we consider the disturbance attenuation characteristic. The transfer function from the reference input d(s) to the output y(s) is given by

$$y(s) = (I - Q(s))r(s).$$
 (4.16)

Therefore, to attenuate the step disturbance

$$d(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{s} \\ \frac{1}{s} \\ \frac{1}{s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.17)

completely,

$$I - Q(0) = 0 \tag{4.18}$$

must be satisfied. If Q(s) is chosen to satisfy (4.18), the step disturbance d(s) is attenuated effectively.

4.5 Design method of minimum-phase stabilizing controllers

In this section, we propose a design method of minimum-phase stabilizing controllers. From Theorem 4.3.1, to design a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s), we need to settle $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(I - Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$. In addition, for the output y(s) to follow the reference input r(s) without steady-state error and the disturbance d(s) attenuated effectively, Q(s) needs to satisfy (4.15). A design method of $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ being any minimum-phase function to make $(I - Q(s))G(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and stabilizing controller C(s) is summarized as follows.

1. Let G(s) be factorized as

$$G(s) = G_1(s)G_2(s), (4.19)$$

where $G_1(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is biproper of minimum-phase and contains all unstable poles and $G_2(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is biproper of minimum-phase and contains all stable poles.

2. Using $G_1(s)$, design $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ as

$$Q(s) = I - sG_1^{-1}(s)\frac{k}{(\tau s + 1)^{\alpha}},$$
(4.20)

where $\tau \in R$, α is an arbitrary positive integer to make Q(s) proper, and k is a constant.

3. Using Q(s) in (4.20), fix a stable stabilizing controller C(s) in (4.4).

4.6 Numerical example

In this section, a numerical example is illustrated to show that a stabilizing minimum-phase controller written by the form of (4.4) can stabilize the minimum-phase plant.

Consider the problem to make the control system in (4.1) stable using stabilizing minimum-phase controller, where the plant G(s) is written as

$$G(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{s+2}{s-1} & \frac{5s+7}{s-1} \\ \frac{3s+5}{s-1} & \frac{4s+3}{s-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.21)

G(s) is of minimum-phase and biproper. Using the design method described in Section 4.5, we obtain a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) to make the output y(s) follow the step reference input r(s) without steady state error and to attenuate the step disturbance d(s) effectively. First G(s) in (4.21) is factorized by (4.19), where

$$G_1(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{s+2}{s-1} & \frac{5s+7}{s-1} \\ \frac{3s+5}{s-1} & \frac{4s+3}{s-1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.22)

and

$$G_2(s) = I.$$
 (4.23)

Using G(s) in (4.22), $Q(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is given by (4.20), where k, α , and τ are settled by

$$k = 1, \tag{4.24}$$

$$\alpha = 1 \tag{4.25}$$

and

$$\tau = 1. \tag{4.26}$$

Then, Q(s) is obtained as

$$Q(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1.3636(s+1.21)(s^2+3.256s+4.792)}{(s+3)(s^2+3.182s+2.636)} \\ \frac{-0.27273s(s-1)(s+1.667)}{(s+3)(s^2+3.182s+2.636)} \\ \frac{\frac{-0.45455s(s-1)(s+1.4)}{(s+3)(s^2+3.182s+2.636)} \\ \frac{1.0909(s+2.557)(s^2+3.193s+2.836)}{(s+3)(s^2+3.182s+2.636)} \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(4.27)$$

Q(s) is of minimum-phase. From (4.21) and (4.27), (1 - Q(s))G(s) is written as

$$(1 - Q(s))G(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{s}{s+3} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{s}{s+3} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.28)

(1 - Q(s))G(s) is stable and proper. From (4.21) and (4.27), a stabilizing controller C(s) written by the form of (4.4) to make the control system in (4.1) stable is written as

$$C(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1.3636(s+1.21)(s^2+3.256s+4.792)}{s(s^2+3.182s+2.636)} \\ \frac{-0.27273(s-1)(s+1.667)}{s^2+3.182s+2.636} \\ \frac{\frac{-0.45455(s-1)(s+1.4)}{s^2+3.182s+2.636}}{\frac{1.0909(s+2.557)(s^2+3.193s+2.836)}{s(s^2+3.182s+2.636)}} \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(4.29)$$

C(s) in (4.41) is of minimum-phase. Therefore if C(s) in (4.41) makes G(s) in (4.27) stable, then C(s) in (4.41) is a stabilizing minimum-phase controller for the minimum-phase plant G(s) in (4.27).

Using the stabilizing minimum-phase controller C(s) in (4.41), the response of the output y(t) of the control system in (4.1) for the step reference input r(t) is shown in Figure I. Figure I shows that the control system



Fig. I: Response of the output y(t) of the control system in (4.1) for the step reference input r(t)

in (4.1) is stabilized by using a stabilizing minimum-phase controller C(s) in (4.41) and that the output y(s) follows the step reference input r(s) without steady-state error.

In contrast, when the step disturbance d(s) is exerted, the response of the output $\vec{y}(s)$ of the closed-loop system (4.1) is depicted in Figure II. Figure II verifies that the disturbance d(s) is effectively attenuated.

The presented example shows that the proposed method can design a minimum-phase stabilizing controller C(s) based on reference tracking and the disturbance attenuation characteristics.

In this way, we find these if the stabilizing controllers C(s) is writteen by the form so f(4.45), the minimum-phase plant is stabilized.

4.7 The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Strictly Proper Plants

In this section, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers C(s) for minimumphase strictly proper plants G(s).

This parameterization is summarized in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.7.1 G(s) is assumed to be of minimum-phase and strictly proper. There exists K(s) that satisfies the following expressions: (1)G(s) + K(s) is of minimum phase. $(2)K(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is biproper. Using above mentioned K(s), the parametrization of all proper stabilizing controllers C(s) for G(s) is given by

$$C(s) = \left((I + \bar{C}(s))K(s) \right)^{-1} \bar{C}(s) \quad \left(\det\{\lim_{\omega \to \infty} \left((I + \bar{C}(j\omega))K(j\omega) \right)\} \neq 0 \right), \tag{4.30}$$

where \overline{C} is denoted by

$$\bar{C}(s) = \left((I - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s)) \right)^{-1} \bar{Q}(s)$$

$$\det\{\lim_{\omega \to \infty} \left((I - \bar{Q}(j\omega))(G(j\omega) + K(j\omega)) \right) \} \neq 0 \right)$$
(4.31)

and $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(I - \bar{Q}(s))(G(s) + K(s)) \in RH_{\infty}$.



Fig. II: Response of the output y(t) of the control system in (4.1) for the step disturbance d(t)

The proof of Theorem 4.7.1 requires the following theorems.

Theorem 4.7.2 If G(s) is of minimum-phase and strictly proper, there exists K(s) that satisfies the following expressions: (1)G(s) + K(s) is of minimum-phase and biproper. $(2)K(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is biproper.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} (\text{Proof}) & & & & \\ \hline & & & & \\ -0.05 & 0.5 & 1 & 1.5 & 2 & 2.5 & 3 & 3.5 & 4 & 4.5 & 5 \\ \hline & & & & & \\ G(s) + K(s) \text{ is written as} & & & t[\text{sec}] \end{array}$$

$$G(s) + K(s) = (N(s) + K(s)D(s))D(s)^{-1},$$
(4.32)

where $N(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and $D(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ are right coprime factors of G(s) over RH_{∞} written by

$$G(s) = N(s)D(s)^{-1}.$$
(4.33)

The existence condition of $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ to satisfy $N(s) + K(s)D(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ is equivalent to that of $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying

$$U(s) = N(s) + K(s)D(s) \in \mathcal{U},$$
(4.34)

where \mathcal{U} is the set of unimodular matrices on RH_{∞} , thus $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ means $U(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ and $U^{-1}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$. Applying Theorem 4.4.1 in [7] for (4.34), the existence condition of U(s) and K(s) is reduced to that of $u(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $k(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying

$$u(s) = n(s) + k(s)d(s) \in \mathcal{U}, \tag{4.35}$$

where $n(s) = \det(N(s)) \in RH_{\infty}$, $d(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ denotes the smallest invariant factor of D(s) and k(s) satisfies

$$\det\{N(s) + K(s)D(s)\} = n(s) + k(s)d(s).$$
(4.36)

The existence condition of u(s) and k(s) is equivalent to the interpolation problem written by

$$\frac{d^j}{ds^j}u(s_i) = \frac{d^j}{ds^j}n(s_i) \quad (j = 0, \dots, m_i - 1; i = 1, \dots, l),$$
(4.37)

where s_1, \ldots, s_l are distinct zeros of d(s) on the positive real axis, m_1, \ldots, m_l are the corresponding multiplicities and l denotes the number of distinct zeros of d(s) on the positive real axis. Since G(s) is of minimum-phase, n(s) is also of minimum-phase. This implies that all of $n(s_i)$ are the same sign. From Theorem 2.3.1 in [7], there exists $u(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $k(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying (4.37). This implies that there exists $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ satisfying (4.34).

The remaining problem is whether or not, K(s) is biproper. Next, it is shown that if $U(s) \in \mathcal{U}$ exists such that (4.34) holds true, then K(s) is biproper. From (4.34), K(s) is written by

$$K(s) = (U(s) - N(s))D(s)^{-1}.$$
(4.38)

The assumption that U(s) holds (3.6) implies that K(s) written by (3.8) is stable. Since both U(s) and D(s) are biproper and N(s) is strictly proper, K(s) denoted by (3.8) is biproper.

This completes the proof of this theorem.

Theorem 4.7.3 If $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is of minimum-phase and biproper, then the parametrization of all proper minimum-phase stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$ for \bar{G} is written by

$$\bar{C}(s) = \left((I - \bar{Q}(s))\bar{G}(s) \right)^{-1} \bar{Q}(s) \quad \left(\det\{\lim_{\omega \to \infty} \left((I - \bar{Q}(j\omega))\bar{G}(j\omega) \right) \} \neq 0 \right), \tag{4.39}$$

where $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}^{m \times m}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(I - \bar{Q}(s))\bar{G}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$.

(Proof)

Since $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is assumed to be minimum-phase and biproper, from Theorem 4.3.1, it is obvious that the parametrization of all stabilizing controllers for $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is given by (4.39).

This completes the proof of this theorem.

Theorem 4.7.4 It is assumed that $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is biproper and G(s) is strictly proper. If the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes G(s), then $\overline{C}(s)$ is written by

$$\bar{C}(s) = \left(I - C(s)K(s)\right)^{-1}C(s) \quad \left(\det\{\lim_{\omega \to \infty} \left(I - C(j\omega)K(j\omega)\right)\} \neq 0\right)$$
(4.40)

stabilizes $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. In addition, the reverse is also true. That is, if the minimum-phase controller $\bar{C}(s)$ stabilizes $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$, then the the minimum-phase controller C(s) is written by

$$C(s) = \left(I + \bar{C}(s)K(s)\right)^{-1}\bar{C}(s) \quad \left(\det\{\lim_{\omega \to \infty} \left(I + \bar{C}(j\omega)K(j\omega)\right)\} \neq 0\right)$$
(4.41)

stabilizes G(s).

(Proof)

First, we will show that if the minimum-phase controller C(s) stabilizes G(s), then the minimum-phase controller $\bar{C}(s)$ written by (4.40) stabilizes $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. K(s) is assumed to be biproper and C(s) is assumed to be of minimum-phase. In (4.40) if the $(I - C(s)K(s))^{-1}$ has unstable zeros, the unstable zeros are the unstable poles of C(s). Therefore, the $\bar{C}(s)$ has no unstable zeros, that is, $\bar{C}(s)$ is of minimum-phase. Then from (4.40) and simple manipulation, $(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}$, $(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}\bar{G}(s)$, $\bar{C}(s)(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}$ and $(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}\bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s)$ are rewritten by

$$(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1} = (I + (G(s) + K(s))C(s))^{-1}(I - K(s)C(s)),$$
(4.42)

$$(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}\bar{G}(s) = (I + (G(s) + K(s))C(s))^{-1}(I - K(s)C(s))(G(s) + K(s)),$$
(4.43)

$$\bar{C}(s)(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1} = C(s)(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1},$$
(4.44)

and

$$(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}\bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s) = (I + G(s)C(s))^{1}(G(s) + K(s))C(s).$$
(4.45)

From the assumption that C(s) stabilizes G(s), $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $C(s)(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)$ and $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s)$ are all include in RH_{∞} . Therefore, all of transfer functions in (4.42), (4.43), (4.44) and (4.45) are include in RH_{∞} .

Next, we will show that if the minimum-phase controller $\bar{C}(s)$ stabilizes $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$, then the minimum-phase controller C(s) written by (4.41) stabilizes G(s). In (4.41) if the $(I + \bar{C}(s)K(s))^{-1}$ has unstable zeros, the unstable zeros are the unstable poles of C(s). Therefore, the C(s) has no unstable zeros, that is, C(s)

is of minimum-phase. Then from (4.41) and simple manipulation, $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $C(s)(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)$ and $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s)$ are rewritten by

$$(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1} = (I + (\bar{G}(s) - K(s))\bar{C}(s))^{-1}(I + \bar{C}(s)K(s)),$$
(4.46)

$$C(s)(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1} = (I+(\bar{G}(s)-K(s))\bar{C}(s))^{-1}(I+K(s)\bar{C}(s))(\bar{G}(s)-K(s)),$$
(4.47)

$$(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s) = \bar{C}(s)(I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s)),$$
(4.48)

and

$$(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s) = (I + \bar{G}(s)\bar{C}(s))^{-1}((\bar{G}(s) - K(s))\bar{C}(s)).$$
(4.49)

From the assumption that $\overline{C}(s)$ stabilizes $\overline{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$, $(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $C(s)(I + G(s)C(s))^{-1}$, $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)$ and $(I+G(s)C(s))^{-1}G(s)C(s)$ are all include in RH_{∞} . Therefore, all of transfer functions in (4.46), (4.47), (4.48) and (4.49) are include in RH_{∞} .

We have thus proved Theorem 3.3.4.

Theorem 3.3.1 is proved using the above mentioned theorems.

From Theorem 4.7.2, there exists biproper $K(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ to make $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ of minimum phase. From Theorem 4.7.4, the parametrization of all internally stabilizing controllers C(s) for G(s) is same to that of all internally stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$ for $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. The parametrization of all internally stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$ for $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$. The parametrization of all internally stabilizing controllers $\bar{C}(s)$ for $\bar{G}(s) = G(s) + K(s)$ is given by (4.39), where $\bar{Q}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$ is any minimum-phase function to make $(I - \bar{Q}(s))\bar{G}(s) \in RH_{\infty}$. Equation (4.39) corresponds to (4.31). From Theorem 4.7.4, using $\bar{C}(s)$, C(s) is written by (4.41). Equation (4.41) corresponds to (4.30). This completes the proof of Theorem 4.7.1.

4.8 Conclusion

In this chapter, we clarified the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase MIMO plants. That is, we showed that if the stabilizing controller C(s) is written by the form of (4.4), the minimum-phase plant is stabilized. In addition, we showed a numerical example to illustrate that a stabilizing minimum-phase controller written by the form of (4.4) can stabilize the minimum-phase plant. We will present the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase MIMO strictly proper plants.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

In this thesis, we propose the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants.

In chapter 2, we clarified the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimumphase biproper plants. That is, we showed that if the stabilizing controller C(s) is written by the form of (??), the minimum-phase plant is stabilized. We also present a design method of the minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for the minimum-phase biproper plants that satisifies the robustness of the control system according to the internal model principle. In addition, we show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. In order to check the robustness of this example, we considered this situation that the minimum-phase controller stabilizes the perturbed plant. And we compare the proposed design method with that of [25]. By using the same Q(s), the controller that we obtained by the proposed method is of minimum-phase. In contrast, by using the previous method, the controllers that we obtain are not necessarily of minimum-phase.

In chapter 3, we propose the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimumphase stabilizing strictly proper single-input single-output plants. Analysis of the internal stability and control characteristics of closed-loop system are provided. We also present the control system characteristics with the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase strictly proper plants. The reference tracking characteristic and the disturbance attenuation characteristic is considered. In additon, a numerical example is illustrated for the effectiveness of the proposed method and the robustness of this example is checked by using a perturbed plant.

In chapter 4, we propose the parameterization of all minimum-phase stabilizing controllers for minimumphase stabilizing multiple-input multiple-output plants. In this chapter, we extend the conclusions of the previous two chapters to multiple-input multiple-output systems. The control system characteristics with the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase biproper multiple-input multiple-output plants is shown. In addition, we propose a design method of stabilizing minimum-phase controllers based on the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase plants satisifying the robustness. We also show a numerical example to illustrate the features of the proposed design method. At last, we clarify the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimumphase strictly proper multiple-input multiple-output plants. In this way we obtain the parameterization of all stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for minimum-phase.

In future work, A design method of a stabilizing minimum-phase controllers for unknown minimum-phase plants will be considered.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to all those who helped me during the writing of this thesis.

First of all, my heartiest thanks flow to my supervisor, Professor K. Yamada, for his helpful guidance, valuable suggestions and constant encouragement both in my study and in my life. His profound insight and accurateness about my paper taught me so much that are engraved on my heart. He provided me with beneficial help and offered me precious comments during the whole process of my writing, without which the paper would not be what it is now.

Also, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the professors who have taught me in this university that greatly broadened my horizon and enriched my knowledge in my study. Their inspirational and conscientious teaching have provided me with a firm basis for the composing of this thesis and will always be of great value to my future academic research.

My appreciation also extends to thank present and past members of the my laboratory. They often advised and encouraged me when I had some trouble in my study.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family who have supported me.

June 2023 Dayu Zhang

Bibliography

- D.C. Youla, H.A. Jabr and J.J. Bongiorno, Modern Wiener-Hopf design of optimal controllers. Part I: The single-input-output case, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol.21, pp.3-13, 1976.
- [2] C. A. Desoer, R. W. Liu, J. Murray and R. Saeks, Feedback system design-The fractional representation approach to analysis and synthesis, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol.25, pp.399-412, 1980.
- [3] K. Zhou, J. C. Doyle and K. Glover, *Robust and optimal control*, Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, 1996.
- [4] J. J. Glaria and G. C. Goodwin, A parametrization for the class of all stabilizing controllers for linear minimum phase systems, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol.39, pp.433-434, 1994.
- [5] K. Yamada, A parameterization for the class of all proper stabilizing controllers for linear minimum phase systems, Preprints of the 9th IFAC/IFORS/IMACS/IFIP/ Symposium on Large Scale Systems: Theory and Applications, pp.578-583, 2001.
- [6] G. Zames, Feedback and optimal sensitivity: model reference transformations, multiplicative seminorms and approximate inverses, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol.26, pp.301-320, 1981.
- [7] M. Vidyasagar, Control System Synthesis: A Factorization Approach, Morgan & Claypool, 2011.
- [8] T. Akuzawa, D. Zhang, T. Hoshikawa, J. Li, Y. Tatsumi, K. Hashikura, M.A.S. Kamal, T. Suzuki and K. Yamada, A Design Method for Strongly Stabilizing Controllers, *International Journal of Innovative Computing, Information and Control*, vol.16, no.6, pp.2131–2141, 2020.
- [9] D.C. Youla, J.J. Bongiorno Jr. and C.N. Lu, Single-loop feedback-stabilization of linear multivariable dynamical plants, *Automatica*, vol.10, pp.159-173, 1974.
- [10] D. Zhang, K. Hashikura, M. A. S. Kamal and K. Yamada, The parameterization of all stabilizing minimumphase controllers for minimum-phase plants, *ICIC Express Letters*, vol.14, no.10, pp. 979-984, 2020.
- [11] D. Zhang, K. Hashikura, T. Suzuki and K. Yamada, The characteristic of all strongly stabilizable MIMO plants, *ICIC Express Letters*, vol.13, pp.601-607, 2019.
- [12] T. Hagiwara, K. Yamada, T. Sakanushi, S. Aoyama and A. C. Hoang, The parameterization of all plants stabilized by proportional controller, *The 25th International Technical Conference on Circuit/Systems Computers and Communications CD-ROM*, pp.76-78, 2010.
- [13] T. Hoshikawa, J. Li, Y. Tatsumi, T. Suzuki and K. Yamada, The class of strongly stabilizable plants, *ICIC Express Letters*, vol.11, pp.1593-1598, 2017.
- [14] H. Niemann, Dual youla parameterisation. IEE Proceedings-Control Theory and Applications 150.5 (2003): 493-497.
- [15] A. Kulkarni, S. K. Isabelle and H. S. Colburn, On the minimum-phase approximation of head-related transfer functions. *Proceedings of 1995 Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Accoustics*, pp.84–87, IEEE, 1995.
- [16] G. F. Franklin, J. D. Powell and A. Emami-Naeini, *Feedback control of dynamic systems*, Upper Saddle River: Prentice hall, 2002.
- [17] H. H. Dam, S. Nordebo and L. Svensson, Design of minimum-phase digital filters as the sum of two allpass functions using the cepstrum technique, *IEEE Trans. Signal Process.*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 726–731, 2003.
- [18] M. Blaauw, Modeling timbre for neural singing synthesis: methods for data-efficient, reduced effort voice creation, and fast and stable inference, Universitat Pompeu Fabra, 2022.
- [19] J. O. Smith, Spectral Audio Signal Processing, 2011.

- [20] T. Okuyama and K. Yamada, A parameterization for the class of all stabilizing repetitive learning controllers for linear minimum phase systems, *Proceedings of IEEE conf. on Systems Man and Cybernetics*'99, Vol.V, pp.62-67, Tokyo, Japan, 1999.
- [21] K. Yamada, Control structure of stabilizing controller for the minimum phase systems and design method of adaptive control systems, Preprints of the 9th IFAC/IFORS/IMACS/IFIP/ Symposium on Large Scale Systems: Theory and Applications, pp.597-602, Bucharest, Romania, 2001.
- [22] K. Yamada, K. Satoh and N. Matsushima, A design method of adaptive control systems using the parametrization of all stabilizing controllers for minimum phase systems, *Intelligent Engineering Systems Through Artificial Neural Networks*, Vol.14, pp.379-384, 2004.
- [23] K. Yamada and T. Moki, Relation between Model Feedback Control Systems and parameterization of all stabilizing controller, *Preprints of the 15th IFAC World Congress CD-ROM*, Barcelona, Spain, 2002.
- [24] K. Yamada and T. Moki, A study on control design method using parallel compensation technique, Transactions of the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers, Vol.69, No.687, pp.3015-3020, 2003(in Japanese).
- [25] K. Yamada, A design method for PI control for minimum phase systems, Intelligent Engineering Systems Through Artificial Neural Networks, Vol.13, pp.571-576, 2003.
- [26] K. Yamada, Modified PID controllers for minimum phase systems and their practical application, Proceedings of The 2005 Electrical Engineering/Electronics, Computer, Telecommunication, and Information Technology (ECTI) International Conference, Vol. II of II, pp.457-460, Pattaya, Thailand, 2005.
- [27] R. C. Dorf and R. H. Bishop, Modern Control Systems, 13th edition, Publishing House of Electronics Industry, Beijing, 2018
- [28] K. Yamada, K. Satoh, Y. Mei, T. Hagiwara, I. Murakami and Y.Ando, The parametrization for the class of all proper internally stabilizing controllers for multiple-input/multiple-output minimum phase systems, *ICIC Express Letters*, vol.3, no.1, pp.67-72, 2009.
- [29] K. Yamada," A parametrization for the class of all proper stabilizing controllers for the certain class of systems and their control structure." *IFAC Proceedings Volumes* 34.13 (2001): 207-212.

Publication List

Chapter 2

• Dayu Zhang, Kotaro Hashikura, Md Abdus Samad Kamal and Kou Yamada, The Parameterization of all Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Plants, *ICIC Express Letters*, vol.13, no.7, pp.601-607, 2019.

Chapter 3

• Dayu Zhang, Nghia Thi Mai, Kotaro Hashikura, Md Abdus Samad Kamal and Kou Yamada, The Parameterization of All Stabilizing Minimum-Phase Controllers for Minimum-Phase Strictly Proper Plants, *Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol.7, no.3, pp.193-199, 2023.